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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 
CARRIE FUNKHOUSER, individually and on behalf of  
All others similarly situated, 
 
       Plaintiff,                  
        CASE NO:              
 
v.         JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

   
 
CAPTIVA MVP RESTAURANT PARTNERS, LLC 
d/b/a PDQ,   
 
                   Defendant.  
___________________________________________/ 
 

COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Carrie Funkhouser (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, by her attorneys, Shavitz Law Group, P.A., upon personal knowledge as to herself and 

upon information and belief as to other matters, alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

 
1. This lawsuit seeks to recover overtime compensation for Plaintiff and similarly 

situated individuals who have worked for Defendant as Assistant Managers (“AMs”) for Captiva 

MVP Restaurant Partners, LLC d/b/a PDQ (“Defendant” or “PDQ”), in the United States, 

pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq.   

2. Defendant is a Florida company operating under the trade name “PDQ” with its 

corporate headquarters and principal place of business located in Tampa, Florida.  At times 

relevant to this action, PDQ operated over 25 restaurants Florida, and over 50 restaurants 

nationwide.       
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3. To serve its clients, PDQ employs AMs.  Plaintiff alleges these AMs primarily 

perform customer service, preparing food, cooking, serving food, expediting orders, bussing 

tables, cleaning the restaurant and other related duties. 

4. AMs’ primary duties are the same non-exempt duties that hourly employees 

perform.   

5. Plaintiff alleges that Defendant misclassifies AMs as exempt from the overtime 

requirements of the FLSA, and as a result AMs are not paid overtime due for all hours worked in 

excess of 40 hours in any workweek. 

6. Throughout the relevant period (January 10, 2015 to the present), Plaintiff alleges 

that it has been Defendant’s nationwide policy to classify AMs as exempt for overtime purposes. 

7. Defendant has not paid AMs at a rate of one and a half times their regular hourly 

rate for all hours worked in excess of 40 in any workweek. 

8. By the conduct alleged in this Collective Action Complaint, Defendant is 

violating the FLSA by failing to pay AMs, including Plaintiff, the overtime wages they have 

earned and to which they are entitled by law.  

9. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of herself and similarly situated current and 

former AMs of Defendant who work or worked at any United States location and elect to opt-in to 

this action pursuant to the collective action provision of 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), to remedy violations 

of the wage and hour provisions of the FLSA. 

THE PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff Carrie Funkhouser is an adult individual who is a resident of Groveland, 

Florida. 
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11. Plaintiff was employed by PDQ from approximately November 2016 to July 2017 

as an AM at a PDQ store located in Sanford, Florida.  PDQ employed Plaintiff as a Manager in 

Training at various locations from approximately August 2016 to November 2016. 

12. Plaintiff regularly worked more than 40 hours per workweek.  

13. Plaintiff is a covered employee within the meaning of the FLSA. 

14. A written consent form for Plaintiff is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

15. PDQ is a Florida limited liability company with its principal place of business in 

Tampa, Florida.     

16. Throughout the relevant period, PDQ employed Plaintiff and similarly situated 

AMs within the meaning of the FLSA.   

17. PDQ has had substantial control over Plaintiff’s working conditions and the 

unlawful policies and practices alleged herein. 

18. PDQ is a covered employer within the meaning of the FLSA.  

19. At all times relevant, PDQ has maintained control, oversight and direction over 

Plaintiff and similarly situated AMs, including timekeeping, payroll and other employment 

practices that applied to them.  

20. At all times relevant, PDQ has applied the same employment policies, practices, 

and procedures to all AMs nationwide.  

21. At all times relevant, PDQ’ annual gross volume of sales made or business done 

was not less than $500,000.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

22. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1337. 
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23. This Court also has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims under the FLSA pursuant 

to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

24. Venue is proper in the Middle District of Florida pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b)(2) because Defendant resides in the District and a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this District.    

FLSA COLLECTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

25. Plaintiff brings a collective action pursuant to FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), on 

behalf of herself and all similarly situated persons who work or have worked for PDQ as AMs 

anywhere in the United States, for claims for the period beginning January 10, 2015 and 

continuing through the present. 

26. All of the work that Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective have performed has been 

assigned by PDQ and/or PDQ has been aware of all of the work that Plaintiff and the FLSA 

Collective have performed. 

27. As part of its regular business practice, Plaintiff alleges that PDQ has intentionally, 

willfully, and repeatedly engaged in a violation of the FLSA with respect to Plaintiff and the FLSA 

Collective.  Plaintiff alleges this violation includes, but is not limited to willfully misclassifying 

Plaintiff and the members of the FLSA Collective as exempt from the protections of the FLSA.   

28. PDQ is aware or should have been aware that federal law required them to pay 

non-exempt AMs, including Plaintiff and members of the FLSA Collective, an overtime 

premium for hours worked in excess of 40 per workweek.   

29. Plaintiff alleges that PDQ’ conduct has been widespread, repeated, and consistent 

throughout the United States. 
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COMMON FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

30. Throughout their employment with PDQ, Plaintiff and the members of the FLSA 

Collective consistently worked more than 40 hours per workweek. 

31.  PDQ was aware that Plaintiff and the members of the FLSA Collective work or 

worked more than 40 hours per workweek, yet PDQ failed to pay them overtime compensation for 

hours worked over 40 in a workweek. 

32. Plaintiff alleges the primary duties of Plaintiff and the members of the FLSA 

Collective are non-exempt.  

33. The primary duties of Plaintiff and the members of the FLSA Collective do not differ 

substantially from the duties of non-exempt hourly paid employees. 

34. Plaintiff and the members of the FLSA Collective do not exercise a meaningful 

degree of independent discretion with respect to the exercise of their duties.  

35. Plaintiff and the members of the FLSA Collective do not have the discretion or 

authority to make any decisions with respect to matters of significance and are required to follow 

the policies, practices, and procedures set by Defendant.   

36. Plaintiff and the members of the FLSA Collective do not have any independent 

authority to deviate from these policies, practices, and procedures. 

37.  Operating Partners and Area Managers, not AMs, were responsible for the overall 

performance of the stores and for coaching and developing store employees. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Fair Labor Standards Act:  Unpaid Overtime Wages 

Brought on Behalf of Plaintiff and FLSA Collective Action Members 
 
38. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding 

Paragraphs as if they have been set forth herein. 
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39. Plaintiff consented in writing to be a party to this action, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b).  

40. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and members of the FLSA Collective were engaged 

in commerce and/or the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §§ 

206(a) and 207(a).  

41. The overtime wage provisions set forth in §§ 201 et seq. of the FLSA apply to 

PDQ.  

42. PDQ is an employer engaged in commerce and/or the production of goods for 

commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §§ 206(a) and 207(a). 

43. At all times relevant, Plaintiff and members of the FLSA Collective have been 

employees within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §§ 203(e) and 207(a). 

44. PDQ has failed to pay Plaintiff and members of the FLSA Collective the overtime 

wages to which they were entitled under the FLSA.  

45. PDQ’s alleged violations of the FLSA, as described in this Collective Action 

Complaint, have been willful and intentional.  PDQ has failed to make a good faith effort to 

comply with the FLSA with respect to its compensation of Plaintiff and the members of the 

FLSA Collective.  

46. Because PDQ’ violations of the FLSA have been willful, a three-year statute of 

limitations applies, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 255, and as extended by the parties’ Tolling 

Agreement. 

47. As a result of PDQ’s alleged violations of the FLSA, Plaintiff and members of the 

FLSA Collective have suffered damages by being denied full overtime wages in accordance with 

29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq.  
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48. As a result of the alleged unlawful acts of PDQ, Plaintiff and members of the 

FLSA Collective have been deprived of overtime compensation in amounts to be determined at 

trial, and are entitled to recovery of such amounts, liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, 

attorneys’ fees, costs and other compensation pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated 

members of the FLSA Collective, prays for the following relief: 

A. Final certification of the FLSA Collective consisting of Plaintiff and all members 

of the FLSA Collective; 

B. Unpaid wages and liquidated damages in the amount allowed by 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 

et seq. and the supporting United States Department of Labor regulations; 

C. Pre-judgment interest; 

D. Attorneys’ fees and costs of the action, including expert fees; and 

E. Such other relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all questions of fact raised by the Complaint. 

Dated:  January 15, 2018  Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Gregg I. Shavitz 
Gregg I. Shavitz, Florida Bar No. 11398 
E-mail: gshavitz@shavitzlaw.com 
Alan L. Quiles, Florida Bar No. 62431 
E-mail: aquiles@shavitzlaw.com 
SHAVITZ LAW GROUP, P.A. 
1515 South Federal Highway, Suite 404 
Boca Raton, FL 33432 
Telephone: (561) 447-8888 
Facsimile: (561) 447-8831 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Putative Collective 
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CONSENT TO JOIN FORM 

 

1. I consent to be a party plaintiff in a lawsuit against Defendant(s), PDQ/Captiva 

MVP Restaurants, and/or related entities and individuals in order to seek redress for violations 

of the Fair Labor Standards Act, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  

 

2. I hereby designate the Shavitz Law Group, P.A. to represent me in bringing such 

claim, and to make decisions on my behalf concerning the litigation and settlement.  I agree to be 

bound by any adjudication of this action by the Court, whether it is favorable or unfavorable.    

3. I also consent to join any other related action against Defendant(s) or other 

potentially responsible parties to assert my claim and for this Consent Form to be filed in any 

such action. 

 

       

Signature       

 

 

        

Print Name 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C1B9EB7B-FBFB-4695-BD6D-465B549B2895

Carrie Funkhouser
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